RECEIVED

Feb 05 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Florence County

Honorable D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MASON YARBOROUGH,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-000694

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the court erred by allowing the extrinsic evidence of witness Emerson Yarborough's forensic interview with Meg Temple to be played for the jury where Emerson admitted to making the prior statements, and simply testified at trial that the prior statements were not true, since extrinsic evidence of Emerson's prior statement was not admissible under Rule 613(b), SCRE, where he admitted making the prior statements?

2.

Whether the court erred by refusing to admit the testimony of the decedent's ex-wife, Lynn Yarborough, about violent acts that the decedent committed against her in appellant's presence, since the decedent's violent history and reputation were an essential element of appellant's defense pursuant to Rule 405(b), SCRE, and probative of appellant's state of mind at the time of the fatal shooting?

3.

Whether the court erred by refusing to instruct the jury on the lesser-included offense of involuntary manslaughter, where there was evidence appellant handled the weapon with reckless disregard for the safety of others and evidence that the that the gun accidentally discharged when the decedent grabbed the barrel of the gun or went for the gun since appellant was entitled to an involuntary manslaughter instruction given these facts?

4.

Whether the court erred by qualifying Scott Ballard an expert only in firearms and by ruling Ballard was not qualified by education, training or experience to testify about the injuries to the decedent's thumb or hand which suggested the decedent was grasping the barrel of the gun

when it discharged, and by also refusing to allow his psychological trauma of a shooting testimony which explained why eyewitness statements being taken close in time to the shooting or when the eyewitness was sleep deprived were not advisable for law enforcement since this testimony was relevant and Ballard was qualified under Rule 702, SCRE, to give these expert opinions which would have assisted the trier of fact in this case?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted at the November 23, 2021, term of the Florence County grand jury for the offense murder. R. 535. His case was called to trial on April 17, 2023, before the Honorable D. Craig Brown, and a jury. Matthew Swilley and J. R. Joyner represented appellant. J. Ryan White and Todd Tucker were the assistant solicitors. R. 1.

On April 21, 2023, the jury found appellant guilty of murder. R. 526, ll. 18-24. Judge Brown sentenced appellant to life imprisonment. R. 532, ll. 17-22.

This appeal follows.

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

Issue one – impeachment and extrinsic evidence of a prior statement:

Generally, “[i]n criminal cases, an appellate court reviews errors of law only and is bound by the factual findings of the trial court unless clearly erroneous.” State v. Bryant, 372 S.C. 305, 312, 642 S.E.2d 582, 586 (2007). Rulings on the admission of evidence are within the trial court's discretion and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Stokes, 381 S.C. 390, 398, 673 S.E.2d 434, 438 (2009).

Issue two – Rule 405 – Specific acts of violence evidence:

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006); State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001); State v. Wood, 362 S.C. 520, 525, 608 S.E.2d 435, 438 (Ct. App. 2004). Appellate courts are bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. State v. Quattlebaum, 338 S.C. 441, 454, 527 S.E.2d 105, 111 (2000); State v. Williams, 326 S.C. 130, 135, 485 S.E.2d 99, 102 (1997); State v. Patterson, 367 S.C. 219, 224, 625 S.E.2d 239, 241 (Ct. App. 2006); State v. Landis, 362 S.C. 97, 101, 606 S.E.2d 503, 505 (Ct. App. 2004).

The admissibility of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial judge. State v. Mansfield, 343 S.C. 66, 77, 538 S.E.2d 257, 263 (Ct. app. 2000); State v. Patterson, 337 S.C. 215, 228, 522 S.E.2d 845, 851 (Ct. App. 1999). Evidentiary rulings of the trial court will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion of the commission of legal error which results in prejudice to the defendant. Mansfield, 343 S.C. at 77, 538 S.E.2d at 263.

Issue three – Involuntary manslaughter instruction:

“The law to be charged to the jury is determined by the evidence presented at trial.” State v. Hill, 315 S.C. 260, 262, 433 S.E.2d 848, 849 (1993). “The trial court is required to charge

a jury on a lesser-included offense if there is evidence from which it could be inferred that the defendant committed the lesser, rather than the greater, offense.” State v. Drafts, 288 S.C. 30, 340 S.E.2d 784 (1986); State v. Gourdine, 322 S.C. 396, 472 S.E.2d 241 (1996).

“An appellate court will not reverse the trial [court]’s decision absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 570, 647 S.E.2d 144, 166 (2007). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” Id. at 570, 647 S.E.2d at 166–67. “The refusal to grant a requested jury charge that states a sound principle of law applicable to the case at hand is an error of law.” Id. at 570, 647 S.E.2d at 167.

“In determining whether the evidence requires a charge on a lesser-included offense, the [appellate court] must view the facts in the light most favorable to the defendant.” State v. Cole, 338 S.C. 97, 525 S.E.2d 511 (2000)). “The charge request is properly rejected when there is no evidence tending to show the defendant was guilty of the lesser offense.” Id. (citing State v. Tucker, 324 S.C. 155, 478 S.E.2d 260 (1996); State v. Cooney, 320 S.C. 107, 463 S.E.2d 597 (1995); State v. Gadsden, 314 S.C. 229, 442 S.E.2d 594 (1994)).

Issue Four – admission of expert testimony:

The decision of whether to admit or exclude testimony from an expert witness is within the sound discretion of the circuit court. State v. Price, 368 S.C. 494, 498, 629 S.E.2d 363, 365 (2006) (citations omitted). The circuit court’s decision to admit expert testimony will not be reversed on appeal absent “a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice.” State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847–48 (2006) (citations omitted). An abuse of discretion occurs when the circuit court’s conclusions “either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 349, 737 S.E.2d 490, 495

(2013) (quoting Douglas, 369 S.C. at 429–30, 632 S.E.2d at 848) (internal quotation marks omitted).

“A [circuit] court's ruling on the admissibility of an expert's testimony constitutes an abuse of discretion where the ruling is manifestly arbitrary, unreasonable, or unfair.” State v. Grubbs, 353 S.C. 374, 379, 577 S.E.2d 493, 496 (Ct. App. 2003) (citing Means v. Gates, 348 S.C. 161, 166, 558 S.E.2d 921, 924 (Ct.App.2001)). To show prejudice, the appellant must prove “that there is a reasonable probability the jury's verdict was influenced by the challenged evidence or the lack thereof.” Fields v. Reg'l Med. Ctr. Orangeburg, 363 S.C. 19, 26, 609 S.E.2d 506, 509 (2005) (citing Means, 348 S.C. at 166, 558 S.E.2d at 924).

ARGUMENTS

1.

The court erred by allowing the extrinsic evidence of witness Emerson Yarborough's forensic interview with Meg Temple to be played for the jury where Emerson admitted to making the prior statements, and simply testified at trial that the prior statements were not true, since extrinsic evidence of Emerson's prior statement was not admissible under Rule 613(b), SCRE, where he admitted making the prior statements.

Introduction

Appellant, Mason Yarborough, was the nineteen-year-old adult son of the decedent, Chris Yarborough. Emerson Yarborough was appellant's twelve-year-old brother at the time of the fatal shooting. Appellant lived in a converted apartment or shed in the decedent's garage area, which included a pool table which Emerson and appellant were playing on that night. Emerson lived in the house with his father, their cousin Roger Cox, and Emerson's younger brother.

Relevant facts

Florence County Sheriff's Deputy Justin Bostick remembered being dispatched to a call at the decedent's Lake City Highway address that night regarding "an incident that took place at that location involving Mr. Yarborough and his father." R. 66, l. 18 – 67, l. 21. The dispatch was for a shooting. R. 67, l. 14 – 69, l. 19. When Bostick arrived on the scene, he found the decedent in the back half of the garage. He remembered that appellant was not in the garage, but Bostick saw appellant being placed into a patrol car by other police officers a short time after he arrived. Bostick described appellant as being "frantic." R. 71, l. 13 – 73, l. 4.

Investigator Chase McDaniel recalled that one shell casing was found during the search of the garage. His investigation revealed that only one shot had been fired that evening. R. 99, ll. 11-18.

Appellant's statement

Appellant's statement was played for the jury and is now before this Court for review. See State's Exhibit #75. In this statement, appellant told the police that he was with his brother, Emerson, and his girlfriend, Melia Steele that night. Appellant and Steele got into an argument. Appellant admitted that he grabbed a revolver and put it in his mouth, threatening suicide, during the argument. Steele was angry and she left. This left appellant and his brother, Emerson, alone in the shop to continue playing pool.

Appellant remembered that his father came into the shop yelling: "Stop this shit." Apparently, Steele had called the decedent about the argument. Appellant related that he already had his rifle out when the decedent entered the shop. Appellant grabbed the assault rifle because he was scared of his father. Appellant told the police that the gun went off accidentally when his father reached for the gun. Tape at 20:00 – 21:05; tape at 29:18.

Appellant also explained that his father, the decedent, had always been abusive and violent towards him and he routinely approached him with an open pocketknife. Appellant said that he did not know if the decedent had his pocketknife at the time of the shooting. Appellant also related that he was looking out for his little brother Emerson and trying to protect him from going through a similar experience with the decedent. Appellant never wanted the fatal accidental shooting to occur. Tape at 30:00.

As will be seen infra, the court ruled that appellant's mother and the decedent's ex-wife, Lynn Yarborough, could testify about the decedent being violent towards appellant but that she could not testify about the decedent's violent abuse of her that was witnessed by appellant.

As stated, Melia Steele was appellant's girlfriend at the time. Steele remembered on October 29, 2020, that she was with appellant in the shed and that Emerson, and his younger

brother Corbin Yarborough, and their Uncle Dickey (Roger Cox) were also present. R. 102, l. 1 – 104, l. 17.

Steele claimed that during her argument with appellant that night, he hit her with a pool stick. She maintained that appellant also choked her and appellant “held a gun to his head and threatened to kill himself.” Steele also claimed that appellant threatened to kill their dog, and to kill her. She recalled that Emerson was going to the house to get ready for bed, but he returned to the shop when he heard them arguing. R. 105, l. 3 – 107, l. 10.

Steele testified that appellant told her that she was the reason he was “miserable. That I was like the problem in his life.” R. 107, l. 1 – 108, l. 6. Steele offered that she was afraid at the time and she text messaged her grandmother to pick her up from the decedent’s house. R. 108, ll. 3-25. Steele also texted the decedent to tell him about the argument. R. 109, ll. 1-8. Steele was not present when the incident between appellant occurred.

Emerson Yarborough was going to Johnsonville High School at the time of appellant’s trial. R. 170, ll. 5-6. He had been living with the decedent, appellant, his little brother Corbin, and his cousin or uncle, Roger Cox, on October 29, 2020. R. 171, ll. 1-20.

Emerson testified that appellant and his girlfriend, Steele, got into an argument that night. Steele left angry, and appellant calmed down after she left. R. 171, l. 1 – 174, l. 6. Emerson remembered talking to investigator Chris Owens in the early morning hours of October 30, 2020 after the shooting. Emerson told Owens that he was in the garage with appellant and Steele that night. R. 174, ll. 12-23. Emerson testified that he did not recall telling Owens that appellant became visibly upset when the decedent came to the garage. He also did not remember if appellant asked the decedent if Steele had called the decedent. R. 174, l. 21 – 175, l. 6. In

addition, Emerson did not remember if he told Owens that he did not see the decedent make an attempt to grab appellant's gun. R. 175 l. 2 – 176, l. 4.

Emerson did remember going to an interview at the Care House and giving a statement to Meg Temple. Emerson also recalled getting “choked up” when Temple asked him about the shooting incident. R. 176, ll. 8-24.

Emerson did not remember telling Temple that appellant's girlfriend, Steele, was doing schoolwork that night. He did remember telling Temple that appellant and Steele started to argue. Emerson could not recall certain other portions of the interview, stating: “It was all a blur.” R. 177, l. 5 – 178, l. 5.

Jury out

The solicitor told the judge that he had a matter of law, and the jury was sent out of the courtroom. The solicitor asked to play the entire forensic interview with Meg Temple and Emerson to the jury since he would not admit the contents of the interview. The solicitor said that he was allowed to play this extrinsic evidence under Rule 613(c), SCRE. R. 178, l. 21 – 179, l. 10.

Defense counsel Joyner argued that Emerson was only testifying that he did not specifically remember certain items that the solicitor was asking about the interview. Rule 613(c) did not allow the interview to be played as a prior inconsistent statement under these circumstances. R. 179, l. 11 – 182, l. 13.

Jury returns

When the jury returned to the courtroom, Emerson answered the solicitor that he did not remember telling Meg Temple that appellant hit his girlfriend that evening. R. 183, l. 1 – 184, l. 14. Emerson thought he did tell Temple that appellant was acting “really dumb” that evening,

and he also remembered telling Temple that after Steele left, he was trying to talk to appellant. R. 184, ll. 9-25. Emerson also thought that he told Temple that he remembered Steele calling the decedent to check on him. In addition, he recalled getting his dog and younger brother together for protection that evening. Emerson remembered telling Temple that when the argument occurred that the decedent, his younger brother Corbin, and Roger Cox were all in the house asleep. R. 185, l. 3 – 186, l. 14.

Emerson did not remember telling Temple that appellant and Melia got into an argument, and that appellant hit her. R. 186, l. 4 – 187, l. 21. This examination by the solicitor continued, and Emerson admitted recalling certain items in his interview with Temple and stating he did not remember telling her other items the solicitor asked him to admit. R. 191, l. 14 – 203, l. 10. Emerson did remember telling Temple that appellant got his revolver that night and he was “just acting psycho.” R. 189, ll. 4-6.

On cross-examination by the defense, Emerson testified that he gave his statement about twelve hours after his father was shot, and that he was very angry at the time. He had only had a couple hours of sleep. Emerson said that he wanted to incriminate appellant as much as he could at that time because he was angry and upset with appellant who had earlier been “acting psycho.” R. 189, ll. 4-6.

On continued cross-examination, Emerson testified that appellant never tried to get him to lie, but that the solicitor conversely had threatened and intimidated Emerson with perjury if “he didn’t tell the story” the solicitor wanted to hear. R. 225, l. 2 – 226, l. 19.

Emerson said that he told the truth to the jury at trial that day under oath, but that he had lied before the trial at the behest of the solicitor. On redirect examination, Emerson told the

solicitor “You wanted me to say the same lies that I said in the [forensic] video.” R. 227, l. 17 – 228, l. 18.

Arguments of counsel

The solicitor then argued that under a combination of Rule 613(b), SCRE and Rule 608 (c), SCRE, that the state should be allowed to show the forensic interview to the jury to impeach Emerson. R. 231, l. 5 – 232, l. 13.

Defense counsel Swilley argued that Emerson had testified that he was mad at appellant at the time he made his statements, and he had *now admitted making the prior statements*, but Emerson stated that they were not true. Counsel noted that Emerson had admitted making the prior statements and that therefore forensic evidence of the prior statements was not admissible given Emerson’s admission that he made the prior statements. R. 231, l. 5 – 236, l. 23. “There is no inconsistency or no - - there is none of that. [The Rule] specifically says however if a witness admits making the prior statement, extrinsic evidence that the prior statement was made - - is inadmissible.” R. 236, l. 16 – 237, l. 6. Counsel argued that Rule 613 (c), SCRE, was clear that if the witness admitted to making the statements, extrinsic evidence of that statement could not be admitted. Here, Emerson admitted making the statement, but he simply said those statements were a lie. R. 236, l. 16 – 238, l. 4.

The judge ruled that Emerson’s prior statements during the forensic interview were admissible once Emerson said the solicitor wanted him to tell the same lie as he was telling on the forensic video. R. 234, l. 11 – 238, l. 3.

The forensic interview

When the forensic interview was played for the jury, Emerson said on tape that appellant had hit Steele that evening and that he was “going crazy.” Steele left, and she called the

decedent to make sure Emerson was okay. Emerson said appellant had been beaten by the decedent in the past. However, Emerson also said during the forensic interview that the appellant grabbed the gun that night, shot the decedent and then stood over him and said: “How was that Dad?” Interview at 13:36. See State’s Exhibit #89, Emerson Yarborough forensic interview.

Emerson told Temple during the interview that he talked to his mother on the phone and told her not to come to their house until the police arrived. He said that his mother stopped at the Church near their house to wait for the police to arrive. Appellant in the meantime had run to another girl’s house. See State’s Exhibit #89, Emerson Yarborough forensic interview.

Discussion

Rule 613(b), SCRE states: “Extrinsic evidence of a prior inconsistent statement by a witness is not admissible unless the witness is advised of the substance of the statement, the time and place it was allegedly made, and the person to whom it was made, and is given the opportunity to explain or deny the statement. If a witness does not admit that he has made the prior inconsistent statement, extrinsic evidence of said statement is admissible. However, if a witness admits to making the prior statement, extrinsic evidence that the prior statement was made is inadmissible...” (emphasis added).

Defense counsel correctly argued that Emerson admitted to making the statements at issue to Meg Temple during the forensic interview, but Emerson simply stated that those prior statements were not true. They were a lie because Emerson was very angry at appellant at the time, and he wanted to hurt appellant as much as possible.

The fact that Emerson testified at trial that the solicitor was attempting to get him to “say the same lies” during his in-court testimony did not make extrinsic evidence of the prior

statements he admitted admissible under Rule 613(b), SCRE. Extrinsic evidence of the admitted statements was not admissible under Rule 613 (b), SCRE. The judge erred in ruling otherwise.

Further, the solicitor's contention that because cross-examination in South Carolina was broad and allows any fact tending to show the bias, interest or partiality on behalf of the witness under State v. Brewington, 267 S.C. 97, 226 S.E.2d 249 (1976), did not mean that extrinsic evidence of a prior statement could be admitted at trial to impeach the witness where that statement was not inconsistent or denied. Under Rule 613, SCRE Emerson's statements were not prior inconsistent statements under Rule 613(b), SCRE once he admitted making them.

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