**RECEIVED**

**Dec 16 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Florence County  
The Honorable D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

MASON YARBOROUGH,

APPELLANT.

Appellate Case No. 2023-000694

\_\_\_\_\_  
**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**  
\_\_\_\_\_

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

J. ANTHONY MABRY  
Senior Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 11973

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-6305

HON. EDGAR L. CLEMENTS, III

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

Victim's ex-wife then proffered that she had witnessed Victim's violent behavior and his violence against Yarborough. (Tr. 488, ll. 2-5). She testified about a specific incident where Yarborough was young, and Victim whipped Yarborough with a belt after he got into trouble. She testified this punishment was extreme, and she claimed she stopped the whipping and told Victim that was enough. Victim stopped. She took Yarborough out of his room and "he had strips on him. He had a belt buckle from the belt on his back [it left] a mark." (Tr. 488, ln. 16 -489, ln. 6). Judge Brown later ruled this and any other evidence of abuse against Yarborough was admissible.

Victim's ex-wife then proffered another incident where Victim came home and drank a couple of beers. He demanded to talk to her outside. Victim then began choking her, and Yarborough came outside and said: "Dad, please get of my mama, leave my mama alone. And he [Victim] told him [Yarborough] if he didn't get back in, he would beat his ass." She bit Victim's finger, and he stopped. Victim's ex-wife testified that Victim kicked her chair over, and she scrapped her face and arm. He also "busted my toe on the cement." (Tr. 489, l. 10 – Tr. 490, l.

10). Victim's ex-wife also testified Victim had come inside after drinking on another occasion and "he wanted to be intimate." When Victim's ex-wife said no, Victim threw a remote which hit her in the back which left a mark on her back. On another date, Victim picked up a plate of hot food and threw it at his ex-wife hitting her in the back of the head in the presence of Emerson and Yarborough. (Tr. 490-491). On another occasion Victim came home and had been drinking. Victim became angry about text messages the ex-wife had received from a co-worker. In the presence of Yarborough, Victim put a gun to his ex-wife's head and demanded she find the text messages. (Tr. 491-492). Victim's ex-wife confirmed Yarborough was present for each of these acts and Yarborough was afraid of Victim "to a certain point." (Tr. 493). On cross-examination, Victim's ex-wife admitted that all of these incidents occurred during 2010 and 2011, which was nine (9) to ten (10) years before the murder in this case. (Tr. 493, ll. 11-19). She admitted she finally left in 2011/2012, and up to that point it had become mostly mental and verbal abuse. (Tr. 492, ll. 11-14). Victim's ex-wife admitted she had not witnessed any acts of violence or abuse of Mason since the divorce. (Tr. 492, ll. 22-25).

Judge Brown and defense counsel then discussed the admissibility of these prior incidents pursuant to Rule 405, SCRE, and State v. Day, 341 S.C. 410, 535 S.E.2d 431 (2000). (Tr. 493-97). Judge Young specifically stated on the record that the law holds that: "...other specific instances of violence by the victim are not admissible unless they were directed against the defendant or were so closely connected at the point of time of the occasion which the homicide to produce a reasonable apprehension of great bodily harm." (Tr. 495, ln. 23-496, ln. 3). Judge Brown specifically asked that pursuant to State v. Day, 341 S.C. 410, 535 S.E.2d 431, Rule 405, SCRE, and State v. McCray, 413 S.C. 76, 92-95, 773 S.E.2d 914 (Ct. App. 2015), since most of these incidents were directed against the witness [Victim's ex-wife], but not Yarborough, does not the

law require that they have to be more closely connected in time to the incident for which someone is charged? Defense counsel argued these prior incidents against Yarborough and putting a gun to his mother's head in his presence all contributed to Yarborough's fear of Victim and the incidents were admissible under Rule 405(b), SCRE and State v. Day. (Tr. 494-97). Defense counsel argued the evidence was admissible to show why it was reasonable for Yarborough to pick up the gun that evening, because he was afraid of what his father was going to do to him. (Tr. 494-97).

The State argued pursuant to Day, 341 S.C. 410, 535 S.E.2d 43, that the prior instances were too remote in time to be admissible. The murder on trial took place almost 10 years after the conduct the defense wanted to introduce.

Judge Brown ruled that, pursuant to South Carolina law, the acts of violence directed at Yarborough were admissible, but the acts of violence against Victim's ex-wife were not admissible. (Tr. 493-97).

### *Standard of Review*

The admission or exclusion of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion and prejudice to the accused. State v. Hatcher, 392 S.C. 86, 91, 708 S.E.2d 750, 753 (2011); State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006)). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law." Id.: see also State v. Brockmever, 406 S.C. 324, 340, 751 S.E.2d 645, 653 (2013). "Whether a specific instance of conduct by the deceased is closely connected in point of time or occasion to the homicide so as to be admissible is in the trial judge's discretion and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion resulting in prejudice to the accused." Day, 341 S.C. at 420, 535 S.E.2d at 436.

### *Law/Analysis*

In Day, Day argued the trial judge erred by excluding testimony of Marva Szumowicz (“Szumowicz”) concerning a past act of violence of the victim four months before the murder, that Day alleged was closely related in time and occasion to the homicide and served as strong corroborating evidence that the victim was a vengeful person. The Court held as follows:

In the murder prosecution of one pleading self-defense against an attack by the deceased, evidence of other specific instances of violence on the part of the deceased are not admissible unless they were directed against the defendant or, if directed against others, were so closely connected at point of time or occasion with the homicide as reasonably to indicate the state of mind of the deceased at the time of the homicide, or to produce reasonable apprehension of great bodily harm. State v. Brown, 321 S.C. 184, 467 S.E.2d 922 (1996); State v. Amburgey, 206 S.C. 426, 34 S.E.2d 779 (1945). Whether a specific instance of conduct by the deceased is closely connected in point of time or occasion to the homicide so as to be admissible is in the trial judge's discretion and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion resulting in prejudice to the accused. Id. (citing State v. Peak, 134 S.C. 329, 133 S.E. 31 (1926)).

Day, 341 S.C. at 419–20, 535 S.E.2d at 436; State v. Mekler, 368 S.C. 1, 626 S.E.2d 890 (Ct. App. 2005), *affirmed on other grounds*, 379 S.C. 12, 664 S.E.2d 477 (2008)(same); State v. Douglas, 411 S.C. 307, 324, 768 S.E.2d 232, 242 (Ct. App. 2014)(exact same).<sup>3</sup>

In Day, to support his theory of self-defense, Day wanted to cross-examine Szumowicz concerning a past act of violence by the victim four months before the crime on trial. At an *in camera* hearing prior to trial, Day argued he should be allowed to present testimony from Szumowicz concerning a November 30, 1995 incident where the victim held a double-barreled

---

<sup>3</sup> This has been the rule both before and after the adoption of the SCRE. Day, 341 S.C. at 420, 535 S.E.2d at 436; State v. McCray, 413 S.C. 76, 92-95, 773 S.E.2d 914 (Ct. App. 2015); State v. Douglas, 411 S.C. 307, 768 S.E.2d 232, 242 (Ct. App. 2014); State v. Mekler, 368 S.C. 1, 626 S.E.2d 890 (Ct. App. 2005); State v. Brown, 321 S.C. 184, 467 S.E.2d 922 (1996); State v. Amburgey, 206 S.C. 426, 34 S.E.2d 779 (1945); State v. Hill, 129 S.C. 166, 123 S.E. 817 (1924); State v. Moody, 94 S.C. 26, 78 S.E. 737 (1913); State v. Andrews, 73 S.C. 257, 53 S.E. 423 (1906); State v. Thraillkill, 71 S.C. 142, 50 S.E. 551 (1905); State v. Dill, 48 S.C. 249, 26 S.E. 567 (1897).

shotgun to her head for eighteen hours as he drove around Aiken County and accused her of being involved with others in a drug trafficking scheme in his residence. According to Szumowicz, “He thought that there was drug trafficking going on in his ... yard or his premises there and that he was not getting any benefit from what was going on and that I was to produce at least a thousand dollars on his table by that night which he then continued until twelve o'clock ... the next day.”

Day, *supra*.

The trial judge ruled that specific instances of victim's conduct were inadmissible under Rule 405, SCRE<sup>4</sup> and State v. Brown, *supra*, but allowed Day to present Szumowicz's opinion as to whether victim was a violent person. In Brown, the South Carolina Supreme Court found that the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in refusing to admit a prior act of violence by the deceased in support of a self-defense charge because of the remoteness of the specific act of violence, which occurred twenty-three years prior to the incident in question. Brown, 321 S.C. at 187, 467 S.E.2d at 924; *see also* State v. Evans, 112 S.C. 43, 99 S.E. 751 (1919) (holding trial judge in a manslaughter trial did not abuse discretion in excluding record of indictment of deceased for burglary where burglary charge was not sufficiently connected in time and circumstances to be submitted as evidence affecting self-defense). Day, 341 S.C. at 421, 535 S.E.2d at 437.

The Day Court held that the prior act of violence against Szumowicz occurred **only four months** prior to the victim's death and was admissible to prove Day had a reasonable apprehension

---

<sup>4</sup> Rule 405, SCRE states:

(a) **Reputation or Opinion.** In all cases in which evidence of character or a trait of a person is admissible, proof may be made by testimony as to reputation or by testimony in the form of an opinion. On cross-examination, inquiry is allowable into relevant specific instances of conduct.

(b) **Specific Instances of Conduct.** In cases in which character or a trait of character of a person is an essential element of a charge, claim, or defense, proof may also be made of specific instances of that person's conduct.

of violence from the victim, an essential element of his self-defense claim. Szumowicz's testimony demonstrated that the victim acted very violently when he felt he had been deceived or double-crossed by a confidant. This evidence was relevant to Day's theory of self-defense because he claimed he thought the victim may pull a gun on him if he thought Day had deceived him by allowing Bouchillon to hide in the back seat of the car. The victim's conduct in holding a gun to Szumowicz's head because he was suspicious of her is also further evidence of the continuous and consistent pattern of the victim's drug-induced, violent paranoia, which the defense attempted to establish during trial. Id.

In State v. Mekler, 368 S.C. 1, 14, 626 S.E.2d 890, 897 (Ct. App. 2005), this Court determined evidence of the victim's prior act of violence against a third-party, which occurred **less than three months** prior to the victim's death, was admissible because it “was so closely connected at point of time to indicate [the victim's] state of mind at the time of the shooting”.

In State v. McCray, 413 S.C. 76, 94, 773 S.E.2d 914, 923 (Ct. App. 2015), McCray argued the testimonies of Jackson and Brabham about prior acts of the defendant 7 years and 9 years earlier were admissible because the specific incidents described were so closely connected to the homicide as to reasonably indicate the state of mind. This Court disagreed and upheld the trial judge's refusal to admit the testimony.

In State v. Amburgey, 206 S.C. 426, 429, 34 S.E.2d 779, 780 (1945), the Court stated:

The rule has long been established in this State that evidence of other specific instances of violence on the part of the deceased are not admissible unless they were directed against the defendant, or if directed against others, were so closely connected in point of time or occasion with the homicide as reasonably to indicate the state of mind of the deceased at the time of the homicide, or to produce reasonable apprehension of great bodily harm.

206 S.C. 426, 429, 34 S.E.2d 779, 780 (1945). Whether a specific instance of conduct by the deceased is closely connected in point of time or occasion to the homicide so as to be admissible is in the judge's discretion and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion resulting in prejudice to the accused. Brown, 321 S.C. at 187, 467 S.E.2d at 924; Peak, 134 S.C. 329, 133 S.E. 31.

Here, Yarborough sought to introduce actions of Victim against Victim's ex-wife that occurred almost 10 years before the crime. Judge Brown did not abuse his discretion. Brown, 321 S.C. at 187, 467 S.E.2d at 924 (1996) (holding the trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to admit the victim's 23 year old manslaughter conviction as evidence that the appellant had a reasonable apprehension of violence from the victim). "Young's voluntary manslaughter conviction occurred in 1971, twenty-three years before he was shot by Brown. Based on the remoteness of this specific act of violence, we find that the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in refusing to admit the conviction into evidence and, therefore, committed no error." Brown, 321 S.C. at 187, 467 S.E.2d at 924.

The evidence at trial established Yarborough attacked his girlfriend Steele, hit her with a pool stick, got on top of her and choked her and took her phone away from her. Yarborough also picked up a gun, put it in his mouth or to his head and threatened to kill himself. Steele left because of Yarborough's actions and called or texted Victim to check on Emerson, Yarborough's little brother because Emerson was in the garage with Yarborough who was acting "psycho." Victim went to the garage to check on Emerson and told Yarborough to stop what he was doing. Yarborough picked up a loaded assault rifle, pointed it at Victim, and shot Victim in the head. He then walked over to Victim and stated: "How do you like that, dad?" Victim's actions 10 years earlier against Victim's ex-wife were not so closely connected at point of time or occasion with

the homicide as reasonably to indicate the state of mind of the deceased or Yarborough at the time of the homicide, or to produce reasonable apprehension of great bodily harm. Day, supra. Judge Brown must be affirmed because he acted in his sound discretion and did not abuse the same. Brown; Peake.

### *Harmless Error*

Even assuming *arguendo* any error, it was harmless. The State admitted Yarborough's statement to police the day after the crime where Yarborough stated he was afraid of his father all of the time. (State's Ex. 75). Yarborough also stated that he picked up the gun because he was afraid of his father because of prior abuse. (State's Ex. 75). When told by Investigator Owen that he had heard the abuse between Victim and Yarborough went both ways, Yarborough recounted that he only hit Victim in the head in the past with a vase because Victim had choked Petitioner with both hands around Yarborough's neck until Yarborough's face turned blue and he had no choice but to hit Victim. (State's Ex. 75). The State introduced Emerson's prior recorded statement in which Emerson informed police that Victim had abused Yarborough during his lifetime, there was a prior incident that could have led to the shooting, and Yarborough was afraid of his father. (State's Ex. 89). And, Judge Brown admitted the testimony of Yarborough's mother that Victim had abused Yarborough physically in the past, and Victim was in a foul mood that day. (Tr. 498, 500). And, Yarborough called his mother after the shooting and stated I accidentally shot dad and it was an accident. He grabbed the gun. (Tr. 503). Finally, the State admitted the 911 call from Yarborough in which he stated that Victim had been on blood pressure medication and was very angry and attacked him, and decedent grabbed the gun and "it went off." (State's Ex. 6, 911 call). (Tr. 120, 112-16). The evidence closely connected at point of time or occasion with the homicide as reasonably to indicate the state of mind of the deceased or Yarborough at the time of the

homicide, or to produce reasonable apprehension of great bodily harm was admitted. *Day, supra*. What was not admitted was extraneous evidence from 10 years earlier which was cumulative to that admitted. Therefore, any error was harmless.

### **ARGUMENT III.**

#### **Judge Brown did not err in declining to charge involuntary manslaughter.**

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